I. Introduction 

We are here because: The 10hnstons were facing imminent 

foreclosure. CP 82. The parties did not know each other. CP 68:24. Ms. 

10hnston briefly met with Mr. Torkildjust 30 days before the foreclosure 

sale. CP 69: 14. Mr. Torkild represented that he was interested in 

purchasing the property either directly or through foreclosure (CP 82:2), 

and if successful, "promised to lease it to them with the hope of resale in 

the near future." CP 72:21. Ms. Torkild's Company, First Capital, Inc. 

bought the delinquent note from the bank. CP 74. The foreclosure sale 

continued to completion and First Capital acquired the property. CP 75. 

The property was leased back to the 10hnstons (CP 76:3), but the 

1 ohnston' s financial difficulties continued. CP 78: 11. They defaulted in 

rent. CP 78: 11 & 85: 16. When it came time to purchase the property, it 

was impossible for the 10hnstons to secure mortgage financing. RP 3: 15. 

Resale was futile. They were eventually evicted. CP 85: 17. 

The 10hnstons blamed the Torkilds for the ultimate loss of the 

property rather than their own inability to make the mortgage payments. 

To circumvent the Statute of Frauds and the impossibility to perform a re-

purchase at the end of the lease, the 10hnstons allegedfraud-in-the-

inducement. The 10hnstons alleged Mr. Torkild's pre-foreclosure "hope 
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of resale" statement was a fraudulent misrepresentation designed to 

"deflect" them from a chance to successfully stop the foreclosure sale on 

their own. CP 87: 1. 

Specifically, the 10hnstons alleged that if Mr. Torkild didn't 

intervene, they could have "preserved the property" by "seeking" one of 

these three opportunities: 

A. Sell off a portion of the property to a neighbor to raise cash, or 
sell the entire property; CP 69: 11; 

B. Go back to accept a high interest loan offer from Creative 
Mortgage. CP 85:23; or 

C. File a Chapter 13 bankruptcy petition. CP 69:5 

Following a bench trial, the trial court concluded that the 10hnstons 

could have stopped the foreclosure with either of these "options". CP 

69: 11. Implicit in the court's conclusion was that that Mr. Torkild's 

unfulfilled "hope of resale" representation was the cause-in-fact and 

proximate cause of the foreclosure sale. 

The first assignment of error is that the trial court had no basis to 

conclude the Torkild's were the cause of the loss. The court had no basis 

to conclude that Mr. Torkild's representation prevented the 10hnstons 

from "preserving" the property (CP 86:22), from the foreclosure sale 

because there are no findings to establish these three opportunities 
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were feasible or even possible given the limited timeframe and the 

Johnston's lack offinancial capability. 

Second, these three opportunities were only evidenced by Ms. 

Johnston's oral trial testimony. To establish the Johnston's credibility was 

a serious issue in this case, the Torkilds entered testimony and evidence 

from their handwriting expert. RP 5-42 & Ex. 144. The Johnston's own 

attorney demonstrated the prejudice to the Torkilds when he argued that 

the handwriting expert's testimony had " ... the potential to blow this case 

wide open in some ways depending on how the Court goes with it." CP 

82. The second assignment of error is that the trial court made a clearly 

erroneous finding as to how the expert's exemplars were gathered (CP 

80: 16), and then based upon the error, the trial court refused to consider 

the expert's testimony for any purpose whatsoever. CP 80: 18 

The remaining assignment of error is the review of two damage 

calculation errors. 

II. Assignments of Error & Issues 

The Whatcom County Superior Court erred by entering particular 

Findings and Conclusions that were not consistent with the law, not 

supported by essential findings, or clearly erroneous. CP 67-98. 

Error #1. The Johnstons claimed they had three opportunities to stop the 
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imminent foreclosure sale. The theory was that if one of these 

opportunities were successful, it could have broken the chain 

of causation between the lohnston's inability to pay their 

mortgage, and the foreclosure sale. The trial court concluded 

Mr. Torkild' s "hope of resale" representation deflected them 

from "a chance to seek these other remedies." CP 87: 1. 

Essential findings are missing. The absence of these essential 

findings were wrongly construed in favor of the lohnstons. 

These errors affect all of the causes of action in this case. Is 

the trial court's conclusion that the Torkilds caused the 

loss of the property contrary to law, and not supported by 

essential findings or substantial evidence? 

Erroneous Findings of Fact: 13, 18, 19,20,187,199,240,242,254,261 
Erroneous Conclusions of Law: 2, 3, 6, 8, 10, 11 

The three opportunities are each discussed separately as part of the 

first assignment of error: 

Subpart A. First opportunity: The opportunity to preserve the 

property by selling off a portion of the property, or by 

selling the entire property: The property consisted of one, 

6 acre parcel which the court found, "was capable of 

subdivision according to the zoning code". CP 68: 1. 
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Because it was capable of subdivision, the court leaped to 

the conclusion that selling off a portion of the property 

would stop the foreclosure sale. CP 69: 12. However, 

there was no subdivision in process. CP 76:8. The court 

made no findings to support a conclusion that it was 

possible or financially feasible. The court did not link 

how a mere "capability" could translate into afinancially 

feasible way to preserve the property from the foreclosure 

sale. The property is located in Whatcom County (CP 

67), and the "zoning code" that the court refers to as its 

legal authority (CP 68: 1), is Title 21 of the Whatcom 

County Land Division Regulations. However, Title 

21.11.010 (Ord. 2000-056 § 1)1 actually makes it illegal to 

enter into any agreement, to transfer or sell "any part" of a 

piece of property, until a formal subdivision is completed. 

The trial court's conclusion is contrary to the law. 

Secondarily, there are no findings to support an 

alternate opportunity that selling the entire property (CP 

69: 12), was a feasible or possible means to stop the 

1 The pertinent part of this legal authority is reproduced in the Argument on page 22 of 
this brief. 
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foreclosure sale given the very short time frame (CP 

69: 14), and distressed nature of the property. CP 68:2. Is 

the trial court's conclusion that the Johnstons could 

have stopped the foreclosure by selling off a portion of 

the property, or by selling the entire property, 

contrary to the law and not supported by essential 

findings or substantial evidence? 

Subpart B. Second Opportunity: The opportunity to preserve the 

property by with a new "high interest rate" loan: The 

court found the Johnstons were delinquent on both of 

their mortgages. CP 68:4. The court found that the 

Johnstons had been "qualified" for a refinance loan at the 

time the refinance notice had been received, but that they 

didn't accept the loan at that time, "because of the high 

interest rate". CP 68: 19-23. Ms. Johnston testified at 

trial that by the time she had met Mr. Torkild, "much time 

had gone by", and "our credit had really deteriorated." 

RP 141:24 - 142:1. Ms. Johnston's previous deposition 

testimony confirmed at trial, was that she had not been 

able to get financing from anyone except for this one 
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earlier offer. RP 137-139. The trial court made no 

findings as to whether this one isolated loan offer was still 

in effect, what the loan amount was, what the terms would 

have been, whether it would be enough to payoff the 

existing mortgages (CP 67:25), whether an appraisal had 

been ordered, disclosures sent to the Johnstons, or 

whether this loan offer was subject to further underwriting 

which would require verification of sufficient income, 

expenses, creditworthiness, and other conditions that, 

according to the court's findings of mortgage delinquency 

at the time (CP 68:4), could not be met. No findings were 

entered to support the feasibility of this opportunity. No 

findings were entered to conclude this opportunity was 

authentic. The Johnstons burden of proof was high. And 

substantial evidence indicates the pre-qualification was 

preliminary at best, and no longer valid at the time Ms. 

Johnston met Mr. Torkild. RP 141:24 - 142:1. The lack 

of essential findings were construed against the Torkilds. 

Is the trial court's conclusion that the Johnstons could 

have preserved the property from foreclosure with a 

new mortgage loan, supported by its findings? 
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Subpart C. Third Opportunity: The opportunity to preserve the 

property by filing a Chapter 13 Petition in the Bankruptcy 

Court: A Chapter 13 bankruptcy may help preserve a 

property from foreclosure if a debtor can start to pay the 

mortgage payments again after they file the Petition. 11 

USC §132S(a)(5) & §1322(b)(4)&(S). Additionally, the 

debtor must also earn sufficient "regular income" (11 

U.S.c. §§ 109(e», to not only make the mortgage 

payments again as they regularly come due, but to also be 

able to re-pay all the arrearages over time in a court-

approved "Plan". 11 U.S.c. §§ 10 1-1330. However, the 

trial court found the opposite - that at the time of the 

foreclosure, the 10hnstons were not able to make the 

mortgage payments on the loan that they already had. CP 

68:4. The trial court made no findings to support a 

conclusion that the 10hnstons could resume normal 

payments again on their existing mortgages. Nor are 

there essential findings to establish they had sufficient 

income to qualify for a Chapter 13 bankruptcy plan 

because the court found: "it is undetermined whether 
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they would have qualified" (CP 69:5), or "if an attorney 

would have found it worthwhile to file such a petition". 

(/d.) The trial court abused its discretion by entering a 

conclusion that filing a Petition was an opportunity the 

Johnstons could have sought when the court expressly 

found the Johnstons could not establish this issue. Is the 

trial court's conclusion that the Johnstons could have 

preserved the property from foreclosure by filing a 

Chapter 13 bankruptcy Petition, contrary to the law 

and not supported by findings or substantial evidence? 

Error #2. The trial court abused its discretion when it refused to 

consider particular evidence: The court adopted unsupported 

assertions made by the Johnstons at trial because the court 

concluded the Johnstons were "substantially credible". CP 80. 

Ms. Johnston was a Certified Paralegal for 20 years. CP 73. 

The Torkilds provided evidence that the Johnston's testimony 

was not credible. RP 5-42 & Ex. 144. The Torkilds entered 

the testimony of Handwriting Expert Hannah McFarland, who 

demonstrated through her testimony that Mr. Johnston, an 

owner of the real property, never signed any of the deeds or 
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documents, never signed the Lease, and that his signatures 

were forged. RP 23:4 - RP 24: 15 & Ex. 144. This was 

contrary to the Johnston's testimony. CP 72:11-13. Ms. 

McFarland's testimony helped to demonstrate these 

contradictions, and helped to demonstrate that Mr. Johnston's 

claimed total loss of memory during the foreclosure period -

as the reason he couldn't testify about it - could have been 

fabricated to avoid these truths being revealed. The 

Johnston's attorney argued the expert's testimony could "blow 

the case wide open". RP 145. Further, if the court had 

considered Ms. McFarland's testimony, it could have 

substantially impacted the Johnston's credibility, and void any 

agreements. Handwriting Expert McFarland testified that she 

personally gathered many of the exemplars containing the 

original signatures of John Johnston. RP 14, L.6 - 15, L.3. 

Did the trial court err and abuse its discretion when it 

found that all of the exemplars examined by Ms. 

McFarland came from the Torkilds, and thereby refused 

to consider her testimony for any purpose? 

Erroneous Findings of Fact: 132 (in part), 137 
Erroneous Conclusions of Law: 2,3,4 (in part), 6,8 
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Error #3. The trial court made two errors in its award of damages: Was 

the trial court's calculation of damages for loss of equity, 

and for loss of "use and enjoyment" of the property, 

clearly erroneous and contrary to the law? 

Erroneous Findings of Fact: 203,205,205,209 
Erroneous Conclusions of Law: 3