ORIGINAL

No. 70719-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION ONE

JOHN JOHNSTON AND DARCEE FOX-JOHNSTON, Respondents,

٧.

PETE TORKILD, JULIA TORKILD, and FIRST CAPITAL, INC., Appellants.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY # 06-2-01137-2

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

BURI FUNSTON MUMFORD, PLLC

By MICHAEL T. MUMFORD WSBA #28652 1601 F Street Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 752-1500

> COUNT OF APPEALS DIVISION ONE

> > JUL 24 2014

I.	RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED							
II.	STATEMENT OF FACTS							
III.	STANDARD OF REVIEW							
ARGI	JMEN	NT 7						
IV.		COURT'S FINDINGS ARE SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL DENCE						
	A.	The Johnstons Proved They Had Options To Prevent The Foreclosure						
		1. The Refinance Option						
		2. The Bankruptcy Option 9						
		3. Sale of the Property10						
	В.	The Torkild's Own Actions Preclude Their Causation Argument						
	C.	Because of Their Reliance on The Torkilds' Fraudulent Representations, The Johnstons Stopped Pursuing Other Options						
	D.	The Damages Claims are Supported by Substantial Evidence						
V.	THE CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT ENTITLES THE JOHNSTONS TO ATTORNEYS' FEES ON APPEAL							
CONC	CLUS	ION						

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court

<u>In re Estate of Jones</u> , 152 Wn.2d 1, 93 P.3d 147 (2004)6
State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997)2
State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 870 P.2d 313 (1994)2
Washington State Court of Appeals
Cingular Wireless, LLC v. Thurston County, 131 Wn.App. 756, 129 P.3d 300 (2006)
<u>Evergreen Collectors v. Holt</u> , 60 Wn. App. 151, 803 P.2d 10 (1991)15
<u>State v. Casbeer</u> , 48 Wn. App. 539, 740 P.2d 335, review denied, 109 Wn.2d 1008 (1987)13
Codes and Regulations
RCW 19.86.06015

INTRODUCTION

This case involves a foreclosure rescue scam carried out by Appellants Pete and Julia Torkild in which they fraudulently obtained Respondents John and Darcee Johnston's family home. Mr. Torkild used a series of false promises and his professional credentials as an attorney, mortgage broker, and real estate agent to induce the Johnstons to rely on him to save their home. Ms. Torkild actively assisted Mr. Torkild with the scheme. Instead of helping the Johnstons, the Torkilds, through a series of transactions stole the Johnstons equity, collected rent, and then eventually evicted them from their own home while making the arrangement appear legitimate on paper. After several years of litigation 1, Whatcom County Superior Court entered judgment of \$754,766.04 against the Torkilds based on the Johstons' claims for Fraud, Violations of the Consumer Protection Act, The Deed of Trust Act, and the Mortgage Broker Protection Act. The Torkilds have appealed.

¹ These events have led to related litigation in Bankruptcy Court, Criminal Court, this court and the Washington Supreme Court.

I. RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

The Whatcom County Superior Court entered 285 Findings of Fact. (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Appendix A). The Torkilds have challenged only 16 of those findings. The unchallenged findings are verities on appeal. State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 697, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997); State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 647, 870 P.2d 313 (1994). The Torkilds allege that substantial evidence does not support the court's findings regarding causation and damages because the Johnstons did not prove they could have saved their property from foreclosure.

There are several flaws in this argument:

First, the Torkilds committed fraud by assuring the Johnstons that they could and would save the property;

Second, the Torkilds' scheme allowed the Johnstons to stay in their home, and would have worked if the Torkilds kept their promise to reconvey the property to the Johnstons. In other words, the Torkilds, by taking control of the property, removed the inevitability of the foreclosure and assumed control of the fate of the Johnston property. They are therefore estopped from arguing that loss of the property was inevitable.

Third, the Torkilds made money on the Johnston sale. The Torkilds argue that the damage awards were erroneous because they did not include a second mortgage or an offset for the rental payments. However, the Torkilds removed the second mortgage and benefitted from the use, enjoyment, and ultimate sale of the property and cannot deny to the Johnstons the benefits they enjoyed for themselves.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Because the trial court made detailed factual findings and the majority of those are not challenged by the Torkilds, the Johnstons submit the court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in lieu of a detailed statement of facts in this brief. (Appendix A). However, certain facts relevant to the issues raised in this appeal will be emphasized here.

The Johnstons owned a home on six sub-dividable acres on Lummi Island in Whatcom County and had substantial equity in the property. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 2, 4; CP 67 & 68; ¶¶ 204; CP 87). Because of medical bills and other financial problems, they fell behind on their mortgage and received a notice of foreclosure from the lender. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶ 5, CP 68) While the Johnstons were facing foreclosure,

they investigated several things they could do to avoid losing their home. They qualified to refinance their mortgage from a lender called "Creative Finance". (VRP Part I, 133:5-14) (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶ 13 & 14; CP 68). They also knew that they could avoid or postpone a foreclosure by filing for bankruptcy. (VRP, Part II; 111:18-19) (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶ 18 & 19; CP 69). They also had a neighbor who was interested in buying all or a part of their property and had the means to do so. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶ 20; CP 69). They were exploring these options when they came in contact with the Torkilds through a sign Mr. Torkild used to advertise his services as a mortgage broker. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶ 15; CP 68)

Mr. Torkild met with Mrs. Johnston. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶ 21; CP 69). He told her that he was an attorney, mortgage broker, and real estate agent and that he could help her keep her home by getting control of the foreclosure process. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 22, 23; CP 69; ¶¶ 149, CP 82; ¶¶ 188 & 194, CP 86). His plan was to get title to the property, lease it back to them, help them improve their credit, help them get a new mortgage, and then reconvey the

property back to them. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 148 & 153; CP 82; ¶¶ 173, CP 84; ¶¶ 238, CP 90). The Johnstons trusted and relied on Mr. Torkild and his promises and expertise to help them keep their home. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 51, CP 72; ¶¶ 145, CP 81; ¶¶ 180, CP 85).

When the Johnstons came in contact with the Torkilds they stopped pursuing the other options they had been exploring. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 154, CP 82; ¶¶ 169, CP 84; ¶¶ 183-187, CP 85). Mr. Torkild required them to sign documents stating that they would stop pursuing other options and work exclusively with him (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 34 & 35, CP 70-71; ¶¶ 167, CP 84; ¶¶ 182; CP 85). This gave Mr. Torkild total control over the foreclosure process. After they gained the Johnstons' reliance and trust, the Torkilds obtained control of the foreclosure sale by buying the promissory note from the lender and enlisted the Johnstons' help in getting Mr. Torkild appointed as successor trustee. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 66, CP 74; and ¶¶ 75-76; CP 75). Mr. Torkild conducted the foreclosure sale and sold the property to First Capital Inc., a corporation created by the Torkilds, which the court found was simply the alter ego of the Torkilds. (Findings of Facts

and Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 58 & 59, CP 73; ¶¶ 78, CP 75; ¶¶ 160, CP 83; ¶¶ 216-220, CP 88; ¶¶ 271-272; CP 93). First Capital Inc. then leased the property to the Johnstons and also conveyed the property to Julia Torkild, who obtained a loan secured by the equity of the property. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 81, 88, 89, 91; CP 76).

The Torkilds collected rent from the Johnstons and led them to believe that they would reconvey the property to them. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶¶114, CP 78; ¶¶ 148, CP 82; ¶¶ 233, CP 89). However, at the end of the lease, the Torkilds evicted the Johnstons, subdivided the property, and sold the two parcels to a third party. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 97, CP 77; ¶¶129, CP 79; ¶¶ 161, CP 83; ¶¶183, CP 85).

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews Judge Snyder's Findings of Fact for substantial evidence. In re Estate of Jones, 152 Wn.2d 1, 8, 93 P.3d 147 (2004). Substantial evidence means sufficient evidence in the record "to persuade a rational, fair-minded person of the truth of the finding." Id. Under the substantial evidence standard, all of the evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn from the evidence must be considered in the light most favorable to the

party who prevailed in the highest forum that exercised fact-finding authority." Cingular Wireless, LLC v. Thurston County, 131 Wn.App. 756, 129 P.3d 300 (2006), (emphasis added). Questions of law and conclusions of law are reviewed de novo.

ARGUMENT

- IV. THE COURT'S FINDINGS ARE SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE
 - A. <u>The Johnstons Proved They Had Options to Prevent</u>
 The Foreclosure.

When they were facing foreclosure, the Johnstons explored several options. They could have: (1) refinanced their mortgage, (2) declared bankruptcy, or (3) sold all or part of the property.

1. The Refinance Option

Darcee Johnston testified that she had contacted a lender called "Creative Finance" who had approved a loan to refinance the property. (VRP Part I, 133:5-14) (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶ 13; CP 68). However, because of the high interest rate, she wanted to consider other options as well. (VRP Part I, 133:15-17) (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶ 14; CP 68). The Torkilds argue that having preliminary approval from a lender does not satisfy the burden of proof because the Johnston did not prove that the loan would have actually been funded.

(Opening Brief at 6). The fallacy with this argument is that once the Torkilds induced them to rely on their foreclosure rescue plan, the Johnstons stopped pursuing this option:

- Q. Did you feel like if you hadn't met Mr. Torkild that you may have gone back and talked to Creative Financing again?
- A. Sure. There were other options. I mean, I kind of stopped looking when he said that he would help. I, he said don't, you know, we'll take care of this, and so I was assured that I didn't need to go back and do any of those other things.

(VRP Part I 134:15-21)

The Superior Court found Ms. Johnston's testimony about refinancing to be consistent and credible. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 186-187; CP 85). The Torkilds had the opportunity to conduct discovery on this issue, and also to cross examine the Johnstons at trial. After hearing all the evidence, the court made the permissible and reasonable inference that the Johnstons could have proceeded to refinance if they had not been ensnared in Torkilds' scam. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 34 & 35, CP 70; ¶¶ 154 & 155, CP 82; and ¶¶ 168-171, CP 84).

2. The Bankruptcy Option

The Johnstons knew that if foreclosure was imminent they could file for bankruptcy to protect themselves from losing their home. (VRP, Part II; 111:18-19) (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶ 18 & 19; CP 69). This was an option of last resort, and they never chose it because they met the Torkilds and became victims of the foreclosure rescue scam. (VRP, Part II; 112:1-5) (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 154, CP 82; ¶¶ 169, CP 84; ¶¶ 184, CP 85).

At trial, the parties agreed that rather than present expert testimony from bankruptcy specialists, they would stipulate that the Johnstons could have filed for bankruptcy which would have forestalled the foreclosure. (Part II VRP; 111:16-19). The Torkilds argue that the causation element is not supported by substantial evidence because it is not certain that a bankruptcy filing would have been successful in saving the Johnston home. (Opening Brief at 4). In essence, the Torkilds to ask the Court to draw inferences in their favor. Indeed, the Torkilds' argument is simply speculation about any number of scenarios that might have occurred. But Judge Snyder found, based on the stipulation of the parties that the Johnstons could have filed for bankruptcy and did not use this

option because they got drawn into the Torkild scam. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶18, CP 69).

Furthermore, the Johnsons did prove they were capable of filing for bankruptcy. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶ 201; CP 87). They were able to stay in a chapter 13 plan for several years. (VRP, Part II; 110:12-13, 111:4-5)

3. The Option to Sell the Property

At trial the Johnstons presented testimony from their neighbor, Charles Bailey. He stated that he would have been interested in purchasing all or a portion of their property if they had approached him. (VRP Part. II; 7:3-15) He also testified that he had the funds to make the purchase, and that he would have been willing to loan money to the Johnstons to help bring their mortgage out of arrears so that he could purchase all or part of their property. (VRP Part II, 8:21-9:2; 11:16-22, 18:17-22).

The Torkilds again speculate that there may have been many reasons why that arrangement could have fallen through. But they are inviting the court to draw inferences in their favor instead of in favor of the established findings.

The Torkilds also argue that it would have been impossible or illegal to sell a portion of the property, asserting that the

Whatcom County Code prohibited sales of undivided parcels. (Opening Brief at 22). This argument fails because the Torkilds leased 3 acres of the 6-acre parcel to the Johnstons before it had been subdivided which, under the Torkild's interpretation, also violates the Whatcom County Code.

More importantly, there is nothing in the County Code that would have prevented Mr. Bailey from paying for an option to purchase all or a portion of the Johnston property once it had been subdivided. Such an option payment would have allowed the Johnstons to cure the default, remain in their home, and complete a subdivision themselves. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶ 83; CP 76). The real issue is not whether the property could have been subdivided, but whether the Johnstons could have turned to their neighbor for help to avoid the foreclosure. The court concluded that this was a feasible option, and was not pursued because of the Torkild scam. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 20, CP 60; ¶¶ 184 & 187, CP 85)

B. <u>The Torkilds Own Actions Preclude Their Causation</u> Argument.

The Torkilds do not dispute that they intentionally set up a scam to defraud the Johnstons of their home. (Findings of Facts

and Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 45, CP 72; ¶¶56-130, CP 73-79; ¶¶155, CP 82; ¶¶ 157, CP 83; ¶¶ 158-179, CP 83-85; ¶¶ 188-195, CP 86; ¶¶ 211-221, CP 87-88; ¶¶239, 241, CP 90; ¶¶ 262, CP 92; ¶¶ 271-272; CP 93) (All unchallenged). They only dispute causation. However, because they were the architects of the foreclosure rescue scam, and because they acquired control over the foreclosure process, including getting Mr. Torkild appointed as the successor trustee, the Torkilds are estopped from arguing that the causation element was not proven. In other words, the Torkilds showed by their own actions that the home could have been saved had they kept their promises. They are therefore precluded from arguing that the foreclosure was inevitable. Indeed, if the foreclosure was inevitable, the Torkilds would have committed fraud by representing to the Johnstons that they could help them avoid it.

C. The Trial Court Correctly Concluded That Testimony By The Defendant's Handwriting Expert Was Not Relevant

The Torkilds claim that the court erred in concluding that testimony by their handwriting expert was not relevant, and that it would have allowed them to impeach the Johnston's credibility. (Opening Brief at 9). The court found that the Johnstons were

substantially credible. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶ 132; CP 80). Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and cannot be reviewed on appeal. <u>State v. Casbeer</u>, 48 Wn. App. 539, 542, 740 P.2d 335, review denied, 109 Wn.2d 1008 (1987).

Additionally, the Torkilds failed to appeal Finding No. 143 which states:

Based on conflicting testimony from the Torkild's themselves, an inability to take responsibility for any questionable actions, and their focus on matters that are trivial or collateral issues to the case at hand, their testimony is not reliable.

(Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶ 143; CP 81). The issue of Mr. Johnston's handwriting was not relevant because the documents at issue were not operative documents. (Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law ¶ 50; CP 72).

D. <u>The Damages Claims Are Supported By Substantial</u> Evidence

The Court found that the Johnston's damages included the loss of the equity of their property and also the loss of use of the property for the time period that the Torkilds owned the property until the time of trial. There are two distinct categories of losses.

The Torkilds argue that the court should have subtracted the amount of the second mortgage from its calculation of the loss of

equity. (Opening Brief at 11). However, the second mortgage was eliminated through the foreclosure sale. Indeed Mr. Torkild represented to the Johnstons that allowing him to control the foreclosure sale would allow him to wipe out the junior liens, thus creating more equity in the property. The Torkilds themselves took advantage of the elimination of the second mortgage when they obtained a loan to get most of the equity out of the property. If the Torkilds had kept their promises to the Johnstons, and reconveyed the property to the Johnstons as promised, it would not have been encumbered with the second mortgage. Therefore, the trial court was correct in omitting the second mortgage from its calculation of the Johnson's loss of equity.

The Torkilds also argue that the court erred in awarding loss of use value to the Johnstons. (Opening Brief at 11). The court found that because the Torkild's evicted them from their home, that they were deprived of the use and enjoyment of their home from the time they were evicted to the time of trial. The court used the lease prepared by the Torkilds to establish the monthly rental value, and simply multiplied that figure for the time that the Johnsons were deprived of their property before. (4/10/2013 Courts Oral Ruling p.

48:2-12) (Appendix B). This is not a double recovery, but accounts for the damages for the time period of non-use, while the loss of equity accounts for the permanent loss of the property. Thus, the trial court's findings are correct and should be affirmed.

V. THE CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT ENTITLES THE JOHNSTONS TO ATTORNEYS' FEES ON APPEAL.

Under RCW 19.86.060, the Consumer Protection Act provides an award of reasonable attorneys' fees to the prevailing party. This applies as well on appeal.

The District Court correctly determined that the Holts are entitled to an award of a reasonable attorney's fee pursuant to RCW 19.86.090. We remand to the Superior Court for a determination of reasonable attorney's fees on appeal to that court. The Holts are also entitled to a reasonable attorney's fee on appeal to this court. Wilkinson v. Smith, 31 Wn. App. 1, 15, 639 P.2d 768, review denied, 97 Wn.2d 1023 (1982) (the Consumer Protection Act provides "adequate grounds" for the award of attorney's fees on appeal).

Evergreen Collectors v. Holt, 60 Wn. App. 151, 157, 803 P.2d 10 (1991).

The Johnstons respectfully request an award of reasonable attorneys' fees on appeal.

CONCLUSION

The Torkilds failed to appeal most of the findings and conclusions of the trial court, which are now verities in this case.

They have instead focused only on the causation element, arguing that they should not be liable because the Johnstons loss of their home was inevitable. However, if the Torkilds had followed through on their promises, the Johnstons would have kept their home. Additionally, there is substantial evidence in the record that the Johnstons had other options for keeping their home, and that they did not pursue those options because they were induced to trust and rely on the Torkilds.

The court found the Johnstons credible and the Torkilds not credible, and this finding is not reviewable on appeal. Finally, the court carefully awarded damages to the Johnstons for the different ways they were affected by the Torkild scam. This included the total loss of their home and the loss of the use and enjoyment of the home from the time they were evicted to the time of trial. All these findings are supported by substantial evidence, and these damages were properly awarded by the trial court. The Judgment should be affirmed.